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Treasurer’s Report
Presentation of Audited 2015-16 Financial Statements
Appointment of Auditors for 2016-17
Elections*
Other Business
Additional Announcements
Adjournment

10:45		

Break

11:00		

Member Consultation

12:00		

Lunch (provided for all registered delegates)

12:30		

Member Announcements – successes, challenges and upcoming events

12:45		

Reconciliation with Elder Eugene Arcand

1:00		

Member Development: Advocacy with Gloria DeSantis

2:00		

Break

(2:15		

SOHL AGM)
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President’s Message
As my term as MCoS President comes to an end, I reflect on the incredible growth we have
seen in the past four years in Saskatchewan’s diversity and in organizational development.
This has only been possible through the strong vision created through dialogue of all board
members bring their connections to the service of the entire multicultural community
in Saskatchewan. We have an executive director who, along with her staff, has been
innovative in programs, partnerships, public education and securing funding. With sadness,
I note the loss of at least two members of our community who had important contributions
to MCoS: Wade Luzny, former MCoS General Manager, and Judy Buzowetsky, MCoS Board and
MEI Committee member. The celebration of the 40th anniversary of MCoS in 2015 gave us the
opportunity to reflect on the past, present and future of multiculturalism in Saskatchewan.
I am proud to share our significant accomplishments in this final report on the 2013-16
Strategic Plan. Please also see the table on pages 19-21 and stories throughout the annual report:
1. The capacity of MCoS is strengthened: SaskCulture’s Annual Global Funding Adjudication Committee has
demonstrated confidence in MCoS and our work allocating increasing annual funding through the revenue generated
by Saskatchewan Lotteries. We have been able to access additional federal funds through Inter-Action and the
Government of Saskatchewan continues to be a significant partner. Self-generated revenues are rising notably
through calendar sales and education fees. We are grateful to the roles our members and partners play. These
increases have supported communications campaigns for Saskatchewan Multicultural Week and March 21st; funding
and sponsorship; education; and 40th anniversary activities.
2. The capacity of the multicultural community is strengthened: With increased immigration, the arrival of Syrian
refugees and growing Indigenous populations, many sectors and organizations are paying more attention to cultural
diversity. MCoS supports multicultural work that makes a difference. Requests for financial and educational support
for work that promotes multicultural values continue to rise. We seek to build capacity through the new Education
Coordinator and by applying for greater funding. We recognize the key role for regional multicultural councils
and continue to pursue resources to facilitate the five streams of multicultural work. MCoS was able to offer
opportunities to gather and learn, including the Integration Forum in partnership with SAISIA and SaskCulture, and
MCoS Multicultural Honours. It was delightful to reconnect with many of the people who created and sustained MCoS
over 40 years at the Gala and to look forward to the intercultural learning of the future as the Hip Hop Hoop Dance
conveyed the ideas of the BRIDGES program.
3. Governments and public institutions are demonstrating a commitment to supporting cultural diversity, inclusion
and new immigrants through their actions, policies and programs: We have now created an advocacy and public
education strategy with relationships at its centre. We continue to develop these with all levels of government and
institutions, e.g. schools and correctional facilities, to increase practices that reflect multicultural values. As we
develop our communication tools and relationships with media, MCoS attracted considerable attention this year
related to local and global events, and federal, provincial and MCoS campaigns. The strategy includes a template to
identify issues and develop strategies that is proving useful as we work with partners, such as SOHL to advocate for
the restoration of heritage language funding.
4. Multicultural values are widely reflected in the community: MCoS has offered learning, discussion and forum
opportunities at our initiative, by request and through partnerships. The Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leadership
workshops, which continue to grow in locations and organizations involved, have real impact on the youth who
participate. The BRIDGES program with AFCS and SAISIA saw both the Common Ground pilot project in PA and the
Indigenous Welcomes for Syrian Refugees in four communities. Ongoing work with provincial partners included
promoting the We Are SK videos through social media resulting in greater exposure and awareness. MCoS continues as
a supportive leader to enable members and the public to promote multiculturalism throughout Saskatchewan through
campaigns, investments and sponsorships.
I want to thank two outgoing board members: Darlene Stakiw who guided MCoS through difficult circumstances and
set the stage for the strength we see today; and Theo Tibo whose wisdom served MCoS so well as Vice-President. We
are grateful to the many types of support from SaskCulture, to the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport, Ministry of
Education, and Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. MCoS and its members share multicultural values every
day to bring Saskatchewan’s motto to life: From Many Peoples Strength.
Bruno Kossmann, President

4

Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan

Executive Director’s Message
I am proud to serve as ED of MCoS as it has not only experienced its own growth this
year, but has been seen as a leader in the community. MCoS has built on its strengths and
supported our members to increase their capacity. At the same time, we have had many
opportunities to engage with media, the public, and elected officials to voice the hopes and
concerns of the increasingly diverse multicultural community.
Last year, we articulated five streams of multicultural work. They often overlap and support
one another, but understanding them as distinct helps to see how multiculturalism enriches
Saskatchewan. They are described on page 18 of this report and relate to the multicultural
values (page 17). They provided guidance for many programs and decisions throughout the
year. I will share highlights and you will find this report organized to demonstrate activities
in each stream and across them.
•

Cultural Continuity support nourishes the strong roots necessary to maintain and evolve cultural heritage in
Saskatchewan. Projects supported range from Caribbean to Ugandan. It is important to work with Indigenous people
in the process of revitalizing and sharing cultural practices. (Pages 23-24)

•

Celebration of Diversity brings us together with the bonds of commonalities and the richness of difference. We
encourage opportunities to deepen cultural sharing and learning to the level of values, beliefs, norms and traditions.
(Pages 25-26)

•

Anti-racism is the challenging and essential work to rebalance power and privilege relationships. MCoS coordinates
an annual campaign for the International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination on March 21st, facilitates
Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops and invests in member, partner, and school activities that recognize
and reject racism and discrimination. (Pages 27-28)

•

Intercultural Connections allow individuals and communities to see each other as allies in the creation of safe,
respectful, prosperous communities for all. We are proud of our BRIDGES partnership with AFCS and SAISIA that
implemented both Common Ground in PA and Indigenous Welcomes for Syrian Refugees. Investments through
Intercultural Connections are additional examples. Many activities include real reconciliation with Indigenous people
for a harmonious shared future. (Pages 29-33)

•

Integration is a process that was explored in stimulating conversations at the Integration Forum, which MCoS
partnered with SAISIA and SaskCulture to host. To nurture newcomers as volunteer leaders, INVOLVE continues to
seek funding for a small centre pilot project. We successfully shared the We Are SK videos on Facebook.
(Pages 34-36)

The Allocations and Multicultural Education Initiatives Committees play a key role in selecting the organizations and
activities that will best create action in each stream and make MCoS Ends a reality. As the multicultural community
becomes more vibrant and mainstream organizations see the importance of incorporating cultural diversity into their
work, we have more applications for excellent initiatives. The committees find that they are not able to support all
proposals. I continue to seek additional funds, especially for the key work of Regional Multicultural Councils. Thanks to
all the organizations that submit projects for your commitment to making multiculturalism central, to strengthening
capacity and to achieving equality for all Saskatchewan residents!
None of this would be possible without the commitment of dedicated staff, engaged board members, and supportive
funders. I am eternally grateful to the insightful, professional and high quality work of Titilayo Omolola, Justin Waldrop,
Heather Ritenburg, Yordanos Tesfamariam, and Andrea MacLeod. Their administrative, communications and education
expertise and willingness to learn allowed MCoS to implement the board’s vision. President Bruno Kossmann and all board
members guided our work as they consistently seek relevant information, foster connections, monitor the past, and look
to the future. Together with our members, many partners, media, businesses and consultants, MCoS is having a positive
impact in raising the profile of multiculturalism and working to create welcoming and inclusive communities. We urge
you to continue to promote MCoS, multicultural values and products, and the benefits of the lottery system in all your
activities. This will keep our whole sector strong and vibrant to be leaders in a respectful shared future.
Rhonda Rosenberg, Executive Director
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1.0

Minutes from the 2015
Annual General Meeting

Call to Order

Kossmann called the meeting to order at 2:20 p.m.
First call for nominations
Darlene Stakiw, Past President and chair of the Nominations Committee brought the nominations slate to the floor
and made the first official call for nominations. There was a nomination from the floor.
The roles of Directors on the MCoS Board were reviewed:
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is about diversity. The Nominations Committee seeks candidates who
add to the diversity of our board. This may be in terms of the organizations they belong to, where they live, their
heritage, gender, age, skills, knowledge, etc. In order to be nominated, candidates must be members of MCoS;
most belong to member organizations and we have a few individuals.
Once elected to the board, directors work together to define directions that are best for multiculturalism in the
province as a whole. Directors do not represent the organizations in which they are members, but are expected
to share the perspectives they have as a result of those connections.
When we vote, decisions follow the majority. Our electoral systems are designed to foster both continuity and
fresh perspectives.
As of June 13, the candidate slate is:
Treasurer:
Asit Sarkar (incumbent)
		Isabelle Nkapnang
Secretary:

Neeraj Saroj (incumbent)

Directors at Large (Three 2-year terms):
Meka Okochi (incumbent)
Xiao Feng Zhang (incumbent)
Julio Torres-Recinos
From the floor: Kam Teo
2.0

Approval of Agenda

Moved: Cram (Saskatchewan Intercultural Association
Seconded: Nkapnang (Regina Multicultural Council)
To accept the agenda as presented
Carried
3.0

Appointment of Scrutineers

Moved: Ganczar (Weyburn and District Multicultural Council)
Seconded: Lwanga (Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan)
To appoint Flo Frank and Morris Stakiw as scrutineers for the election.
Carried
4.0

Minutes of Past Meetings - June 13, 2014

Moved: Sleeva
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Seconded: Sarkar
To accept the minutes of the annual general meeting June 13, 2014 as presented.
Carried
5.0

MCoS Annual Report - President’s Report

It has been a privilege to continue to serve as MCoS President in 2014-15. As we celebrated the 40th anniversary of
the original Saskatchewan Multicultural Act in 2014 and planned for the 40th anniversary of MCoS in 2015, it gave
us the opportunity to reflect on the past, present and future of multiculturalism in Saskatchewan.
The very effective board maintained our focus on monitoring governance policies and achieving our strategic
directions. I am proud to share what we have accomplished in each of them.
1. The capacity of MCoS is strengthened: We have seen increasing grants from SaskCulture through the revenue
generated by Saskatchewan Lotteries, as well as increasing self-generated funds through calendar sales,
memberships, workshop fees, donations, etc. Much of this would not be possible without you – our members
and partners. For a non-profit organization, money is not an end in itself; we have used funds to support our
increased communications capacity, expanding the amount available for investment and sponsorship and
40th anniversary activities. We were also one of the organizations to pilot a diversity planning process for
SaskCulture; we now have a diversity plan to guide us and help us support others.
2. The capacity of the multicultural community is strengthened: The vibrancy of the multicultural community
and its need were both given evidence by unprecedented investment requests we received. There were
many worthy activities we would have liked to have supported as they promote multicultural values in
the community, but funds were limited. We were able to hold meetings and facilitate communications
to strengthen relationships with and among regional multicultural councils and hope to expand support
for their key local roles in the future. Two significant projects began this year with the pilot of INVOLVE
(Integrating Newcomers through Volunteer Opportunities to add Leadership and Value through Education) in
Regina in partnership with SaskCulture and Regina Open Door Society, and BRIDGES (Building Relationships
Interculturally through Dialogue and Growing Engagement Saskatchewan) which saw research, consultations
and plans for a pilot project in Prince Albert take place in partnership with Aboriginal Friendship Centres
of Saskatchewan (AFCS) and Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies
(SAISIA).
3. Governments and public institutions are demonstrating, a commitment to supporting cultural diversity,
inclusion and new immigrants through their actions, policies and programs: As we develop our Public
Education and Advocacy strategy, we would like to thank all those who participated in consultations and
surveys. These are assisting our staff in articulating messages and strategies for public education and
advocacy. Saskatchewan Multicultural Week was a fantastic celebration that included contributions from
branches of government, such as the Lieutenant Governor’s Office hosted MCoS Multicultural Honours and
the Saskatchewan Human Rights Commission co-presented the Youth Leadership Award. We collaborated with
the other multicultural and ethnocultural eligible organizations to create the delightful We Are SK videos.
We encourage you to add your own stories on the web site. The editing and broadcast of these would not
have been possible without the support of the Ministry for Parks, Culture and Sport. In addition, working with
the Ministry on the Forum has strengthened our relationship. I want to particularly acknowledge the evident
personal commitment of Minister Mark Docherty to diversity.
4. MCoS’ values are widely reflected in the community: MCoS was involved in numerous learning, discussion
and forum opportunities including Crucial Conversations at the AGM, BRIDGES consultations, provincial
Multicultural Forum and Multicultural Celebration at the MacKenzie Art Gallery during Saskatchewan
Multicultural Week, International Women’s Day, Youth Leadership Workshops in Saskatoon, Regina and Swift
Current, and the consultation at the SOHL conference, and the Passages Canada panel at the SIA film festival.
MCoS takes the lead as a strong voice for multiculturalism throughout Saskatchewan in ways that enable other
organizations to spread awareness further, e.g. coordination of campaigns for Saskatchewan Multicultural
Week and March 21st (which was increased this year with the Laundry Flash Mob Kits).
This level of activity and impact is only possible through the combination of dedicated, competent, energetic
Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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staff and a board committed to securing a positive multicultural future for Saskatchewan. My immense thanks go
to Rhonda Rosenberg, Justin Waldrop and Titilayo Omolola and my fellow board members. We are grateful to the
many types of support from SaskCulture, to the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport and Ministry of Education.
Finally, I express my thanks to our members and all those who share multicultural values every day; we bring
Saskatchewan’s motto to life: From Many Peoples Strength.
Second call for nominations
Darlene Stakiw, Nominations Committee, brought the nominations slate to the floor and made the second official
call for nominations. No nominations from the floor.
6.0

Treasurer’s Report

6.1

Presentation of Audited 2014-15 Financial Statements

I became MCoS Treasurer by appointment of the Board of Directors following the resignation of Faisal Anwar when
he moved to Manitoba. He was a dedicated and insightful Treasurer and we miss him as a board member.
I am very pleased to present the 2014-15 Audited Financial Statements. We are proud that our auditors at MWC
give their “unqualified” opinion that the financial statements are accurate with no hesitation or doubt. They also
commend MCoS for implementing any controls and suggestions. The statements in the annual report demonstrate
a surplus and considerable activity and investment in the community.
Thanks to Mintz and Wallace – MWC for providing a very satisfactory audit over a number of years.
As planned in the 2013-16 Strategic Plan, and with the efforts of our dedicated staff and your commitment to
supporting MCoS, we have a net surplus of $13,996. The statements show that $20,000 has been put aside for a
reserve fund. This took place through two board motions: one early in 2014-15 to set aside $10,000 of the 201314 surplus and another to add $10,000 of 2014-15 self-generated revenue to that account. As stated in Note
4, “The restricted fund is … to provide for the future sustainability of the Council in the event of a change in
funding.” These funds must come from self-generated revenue, so grants can be used for their program purposes.
Our intention is to continue to generate income and save $10,000 per year whenever possible. We have charitable
status and continue to encourage donations and offer receipts. We hope you will consider MCoS when making your
choices for charitable giving.
We cannot consider MCoS revenues without a focus on the Lottery system, as noted on Note 3. Proceeds
from lotteries support over 12,000 sport, culture and recreation organizations in Saskatchewan communities.
SaskCulture administers the Culture Section of the Lotteries Trust Fund. The Annual Global Funding that MCoS
receives provides the stability and opportunities for innovation that have been the key to growth this year. We
are learning that lottery revenues are currently stable, but not increasing. We have provided a ticket to all those
present at the AGM as a symbolic reminder that we are grateful for this support and to let others know that all
activities by MCoS and those in which it invests rely on lotteries. Good luck!
Our relationship with SaskCulture goes beyond funding to partner in the creation of Diversity Plans, and the
initiation of INVOLVE. The Saskatchewan Ministry of Education recognizes the impact their contribution has
as they increased support to our Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops in both Regina and Saskatoon
with the addition of travel subsidies for schools. We gratefully recognize that this has been a year in which the
Saskatchewan Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport demonstrated their commitment to multiculturalism. They
supported the creation and broadcast of the We Are SK public service announcements and the Multicultural Forum
in celebration of the 40th anniversary of the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism Act, in addition to our March 21st antiracism campaign activities.
The Allocations Committee received far more applications from worthy projects than they were able to support.
Both that committee and the Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEIs) Committee chose to invest our funds in the
community in ways that fulfil our Ends. MCoS continues to work with organizations in which it invests to ensure
that they effectively advance MCoS’ aims and objectives and report in a way that demonstrates the contribution.
Once again, MCoS sponsored activities that support our mandate and offer significant promotional opportunities.
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I would like to thank the staff at the Administration Centre for Sport, Culture and Recreation who look after our
bookkeeping and whose wonderful service is appreciated by the auditors. Finally, I express our appreciation to
all of you who have supported our financial efforts and our aim of promoting MCoS’ multicultural values through
purchases of Multifaith Calendars, greeting cards, bows and lapel pins, and through buying lottery tickets and
encouraging others to do the same in order to support the cultural, sport and recreation sectors.
Moved: Sarkar
Seconded: Tibo (Ghanaian - Canadian Association of Saskatchewan)
To accept the Audited Financial Statements for 2014-15 as presented.
Carried
6.2

Appointment of Auditors for 2015-16

The audit committee recommends appointing James Nelson, CPA, CMA as auditor for 2015-16.
Moved: Sarkar
Seconded: Cram (Saskatchewan Intercultural Association)
To appoint James Nelson, CPA, CMA as auditor for the 2015-16 fiscal year.
Carried
7.0

Constitutional Amendments

The Board as a whole and the Governance Committee have closely examined the Constitution and approved these
changes for recommendation to the membership.
Membership went through the recommended changes they received and discuss the rationale.
Discussion:
•

10b. The Board shall have the option of appointing two additional Directors.
- This meant that the Board have the option of appointing two additional Directors if there is need
for a particular perspective to be brought to the board.
- That needs to be clarified and the governance committee will look into it.

•

10i. A member elected to the position of President is eligible for a maximum of two consecutive two-year
terms.
- This meant that the president can only serve as a president for four years in as much as such person
is still within the eight year service year as stated in 10d that “No board member may serve more than
eight consecutive years in elected positions. After a minimum two year absence, such a past board
member is eligible to run again.”

•

10a. The elected Board of Directors of the Council shall consist of the President, Vice President, Secretary,
Treasurer and a minimum of two and a maximum of six Directors at large.
- Response: Despite the even number stated in the constitution, there is an odd number because the
past-president has the right to vote.

•

Do MCoS have committees?
- Yes, MCoS do have five board committees, these are: Audit committee, Nominations committee, ED
Evaluation and compensation committee, Recognition committee and Governance committee.

•

Can a board run for two positions?
- Presently, there is nothing in the constitution that stated about running for two position at the same
time but in the Nomination form, it is stated that nominees can only pick a position. The Governance
and Nomination committee will look into it
- Any potential unelected candidates can be advised to be on a committee when there is a need.

Moved: Saroj (India Canada Association of Sask Inc.)
Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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Seconded: Zhang
To approve the changes to the constitution and bylaws as amended
Carried
Follow up
7.0

7.0

8.0

Action Required
Look at clarifying better point 10b of the constitution
“The Board shall have the option of appointing two
additional Directors.”
Research about board nominee running for two
positions at the same time. Look at the various options
and benefit and suggest if there is a need to add it to
the constitution or nominations package.

Responsible
Governance Committee

Timeline
Ongoing

Governance Committee

Ongoing

Elections

Third and final call for nominations.
Darlene Stakiw, Nominations committee, brought the nominations slate to the floor and made the third and final
official call for nominations. No nominations from the floor.
Moved: Ganczar (Weyburn and District Multicultural Council)
Seconded: Lwanga (Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan)
To cease nominations for the 2015-17 MCoS Board of Directors.
Carried
ELECTION PROCESS
The Election Protocol, which will be followed during the election process, is that an election will take place
for any position for which there are more candidates than the required number of directors. Ballots will be
distributed to voting members. The ballots indicate the position being filled, voting members are asked to place
a check in the box beside the name or names of the candidate(s) they are voting for. You will have to write in
names for Nominees from the floor.
Since there were no further nominations from the floor for the position of Secretary, therefore, Neeraj Saroj
(Secretary) was acclaimed.
Executive and Directors–at–Large: there were two candidates for the position of Treasurer and four candidates
for the position of Directors-at-Large but MCoS’ Constitution indicates one treasurer and a minimum of two and
maximum of six with three Directors-at-Large in mid-term. Therefore, one treasurer and three Directors-at-Large
are currently required. Voting proceeded to fill the additional three positions. The Nominees were invited to
address the membership on how they will contribute if elected as a MCoS Director.
The scrutineers collected the ballot papers and the results were presented. The following three people were
elected to serve on the board until June 2017:
Executive:
Asit Sarkar (Treasurer)
Directors-at-large:
Meka Okochi
Julio Torres-Recinos
Xiao Feng Zhang
Darlene Stakiw was pleased to present the 2015-2016 MCoS Board of Directors:
President: Bruno Kossmann
Past President: Darlene Stakiw
Vice-President: Theo Tibo
Treasurer: Asit Sarkar
Secretary: Neeraj Saroj
10
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Directors at Large:
Renata Cosic
Muna De Ciman
Harvey Knight
Meka Okochi
Julio Torres-Recinos
Xiao Feng Zhang
Moved: Ganczar (Weyburn and District Multicultural Council)
Seconded: Robertson (Southwest Multicultural Association)
To destroy the ballots.
Carried
Questions and Responses:
•

Can the board consider increasing committee involvement? Regional councils?
- Yes, this will be considered as it could improve community participation and involvement.

•

What is the difference between individual and organization members? Should organizations have two votes?
- The Governance committee will research options and benefits.

Bruno Kossmann thanked all the candidates for letting their names stand, as well as a special thank you to the
hard-working Nominations committee consisting of:
Darlene Stakiw, Chair
Muna De Ciman
9.0

Other Business

Additional Announcements
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Executive Director thanked everyone for coming and participating with MCoS to continue the
development of an organization, which enhances and promotes multiculturalism in Saskatchewan.
On Thursday, June 18th, we hope many of you will join us for an event we are hosting in partnership with
UR Pride. It is titled the Invisibility of Oppressions and looks at how people deal with racism in the LGBTIQ2
communities and heterosexism in their ethnocultural communities. It’s at the Artful Dodger in Regina from
6pm-8pm. Admission is free and food and drinks are available for purchase.
We are partnering with the Saskatchewan Writers’ Guild (and the Regina Multicultural Council) to host
storytellers from many backgrounds June 27th at the Regina Farmers’ Market 10:00am-1:00pm.
Follow up Reports were due June 15th. If projects are incomplete, please e-mail Rhonda to request an
extension to a specific date.
The next applications for Strategic Initiative and Intercultural Connections are due September 15th. Please
feel free to contact Rhonda to discuss ideas. This often makes for stronger applications. Forms are on the web
site and accepted at any time. MEI applications will be due at the end of October.
Culture Days takes place September 25-27, 2015 across Canada. Make sure multicultural activities shine in
Saskatchewan. We can make maps and pins available if anyone is interested in doing the “Show us your roots”
activity.
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week will take place November 14-22 with the Multicultural Honours event on
November 14th. You can begin thinking about awesome candidates for the Betty Szuchewycz and the Youth
Leadership Awards.
We hope you will participate and encourage others to join us at educational, intercultural, leadership
development, succession planning and other workshops. Feel free to let us know if your organization is
interested in working with MCoS to host any of these.
Please continue to share your ideas as we move forward with the process to articulate messages for advocacy
and public education.
Calendars will be on sale in July. The theme for 2016 is Gratitude. Don’t forget, your groups can buy these in
bulk at reduced cost and use them as a fundraiser. Multi-Faith Saskatchewan has purchased enough to give to
each participant at the North American Interfaith Network conference in Regina July 19-22, 2015.

Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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•
•

Buy greeting cards and pins!
Participate in the many multicultural activities taking place this summer. June is Aboriginal History Month – a
great time to learn about the people who have lived on this land for millennia. Celebrate Canada includes
National Aboriginal Day, St. Jean Baptiste, Canada’s Multiculturalism Day and Canada Day – for which Prince
Albert Multicultural Council and City of Lloydminster are hosting multicultural celebrations. We support many
events such as Summer Solstice Festival in Gravelbourg, Festival Culinaire Africain, and Multicultural Day at
Jazz Fest Regina, AfroFest and Carisask in Regina in Regina, Motif in Moose Jaw, Ness Creek Music Festival and
Folkfest in Saskatoon. Enjoy!

10.0

Adjournment

Kossmann adjourned the meeting at 4:05 p.m.
Attendance at the MCoS Annual General Meeting - June 13, 2015
NO
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
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NAME				ORGANIZATION
Allen Ssemmanda		
Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan
Archi Robertson		
Southwest Multicultural Association
Asit Sarkar			
Individual member
Awelana Akeriwe		
Afrofusion Entertainment
Bob Cram 			
Saskatchewan Intercultural Association
Bruno Kossmann		
Individual member
Catherine Aguilar		
Southwest Multicultural Association
Christine Lwanga 		
Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan
Darlene Stakiw			
Individual member
Eileen Ganczar			
Weyburn and District Multicultural Council
Fitz Solomon 			
Saskatchewan Caribbean-Canadian Association
Flo Frank			Facilitator
Gabriele Aguilar		
Southwest Multicultural Association
Gagan Deep Singh		
Multifaith Saskatchewan
Icasiana de Gala 		
Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre
Ila Sarkar			Observer
Isabelle Nkapnang		
Regina Multicultural Council
Judy Buzowetsky		
Weyburn and District Multicultural Council
Julio Torres-Recinos		
Individual member
Justin Waldrop			
MCoS Staff
Kam Teo			Individual member
Mahnaz Robertson		
Southwest Multicultural Association
Morris Stakiw			Observer
Muna De Ciman		
Individual member
Neeraj Saroj			
India Canada Association of Sask Inc.
Renata Cosic			
Individual member
Rhonda Rosenberg		
MCoS Staff
Roxanne Cousins- Barnes
Saskatchewan Jamaican Association Inc.
Stan Ganczar			
Weyburn and District Multicultural Council
Terri Sleeva 			
Individual member
Theo Tibo			Ghanaian-Canadian Association of
Titilayo Omolola		
MCoS Staff
Xiao Feng Zhang		
Individual member

Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan

About the Multicultural
Council of Saskatchewan

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) has been raising awareness of the benefits of cultural
diversity and the dangers of racism since November 22, 1975. In 2015, MCoS celebrated 40 years of making
multiculturalism matter. The Council was created to represent six regional multicultural councils and joined
by a variety of multicultural, ethnocultural and educational groups. MCoS currently represents 53 member
organizations (plus 12 individuals and two business/institution/government), which include thousands of
volunteers committed to promoting the benefits of multiculturalism. MCoS also worked with 40 partners this
past year on a variety of projects and events. MCoS became a provincial not-for-profit, non-governmental
agency that works to ensure ethnocultural survival, strength and prominence and foster opportunities for crosscultural interaction.
We support our members and the public with promotional campaigns and materials (including Multifaith
Calendars), a monthly electronic newsletter, investment in programs that accomplish our goals, information
and community connections, workshops and other learning opportunities. We maintain an involvement with
SaskCulture that has included establishing the Multicultural Initiatives Fund and serving as the Secretariat for the
Multicultural Community of Interest.

Vision
Multiculturalism is central to the cultural, social, economic and political life of Saskatchewan.

Mission
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting, fostering, improving and
developing multiculturalism in the cultural, social, economic and political life of Saskatchewan
while working to achieve equality of all residents.

Aims & Objectives
a. To promote recognition of the benefits of cultural diversity in Saskatchewan and assist in the
development and acceptance of multiculturalism.
b. To recognize and promote the Saskatchewan motto: From Many Peoples Strength and the
Saskatchewan Multicultural Act.
c. To foster an environment in which organizations and individuals can contribute to the
multicultural development of Saskatchewan.
d. To promote positive cross-cultural relations through cross-cultural communication, contact
and understanding.
e. To recognize the special contribution which refugees and immigrants bring into our province
and assist in the integration process through education.
f. To recognize the special contributions which First Nations and Métis people provide to our
province and encourage cultural competency and intercultural connections.

Annual Report 2015 - 2016

13

MCoS has Ser ved as a Leader

14

•

November 22, 1975 - MCoS founded in Regina.

•

We are particularly proud to have been part of the creation of the provincial motto: From Many
Peoples Strength (Multis e Gentibus Vires), a powerful statement about who we are – past, present
and future.

•

Member of the Saskatchewan Committee for the Elimination of Racism in Sport and Recreation.

•

Development, management and distribution of Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEIs) to schools to
encourage understanding and interest in multiculturalism.

•

1987-2008: Member funding for operations and projects, supporting various groups and projects in
Saskatchewan focused on multiculturalism, understanding, integration and the elimination of racism.

•

2009 onward: Strategic Investment in member projects that advance our mission, aims and objectives.

•

Promoting multicultural events and projects around the province to members and the general public.

•

Youth conferences and workshops on the subject of anti-racism and multiculturalism, including Youth
Action Now with Ukrainian Canadian Congress-Saskatchewan Provincial Council (UCC-SPC) and current
Arrêt/Stop Racism workshops.

•

Organizing seven national conferences held in Saskatchewan on multicultural matters.

•

Promoting our cultural heritages across the country during Saskatchewan’s Centennial year.

•

We Are SK PSA project is a partnership between seven organizations – Aboriginal Friendship Centres
of Saskatchewan (AFCS), Conseil Culturel Fransaskois (CCF), MCoS, Saskatchewan Film Pool (SFP),
Saskatchewan German Council (SGC), Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages (SOHL), and
UCC-SPC with support from the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. This project features six PSAs
with the following themes: Culture is a Two-Way Street; From Many Peoples Strength; Cold Land, Warm
Hearts; Look Beyond the Surface; Home and Overcoming Discrimination. The PSAs have been available
through broadcast, web site (www.WeAreSK.ca) and social media.

•

Multicultural Forum in honour of the 40th anniversary of the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism Act in
partnership with the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport.

•

Multicultural Honours event hosted by The Honourable Vaughn Solomon Schofield, Lieutenant Governor
of Saskatchewan that recognizes significant contributions to the multicultural community. Betty
Szuchewycz and Youth Leadership Awards are presented annually.

•

Building Relationships Interculturally through Dialogue and Growing Engagement in Saskatchewan
(BRIDGES) with the Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS) and Saskatchewan
Association of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies (SAISIA). Work has included research
and consultations, a pilot project in Prince Albert, and a series of Indigenous Welcome events for
Syrian refugees.

•

Integrating Newcomers with Volunteer Opportunities to add Leadership Value through Education
(INVOLVE) is a partnership with SAISIA, SaskCulture and Regina Open Door Society. A very successful
pilot was run in Regina in 2015 and plans are underway for a second pilot program in a smaller centre
in 2015-16 before facilitators are trained to make it available in numerous communities.

•

Integration Forum with SAISIA and SaskCulture in October 2015.

Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan

Members and Partners

Non-Profit Organizations

1. Afrofusion Entertainment Inc.
2. African-Canadian Resource Network Saskatchewan
Inc. (ACRN)
3. AfricaNext Project Inc.
4. Articulate Ink Press Inc.
5. Assemblée Communautaire Fransaskoise
6. Association of United Ukrainian Canadians (AUUC)
7. Chinese Language School of Regina Inc.
8. Common Weal Community Arts
9. Community Legal Assistance Services for Saskatoon
Inner City Inc. (CLASSIC)
10. Communauté des Africains Francophones de la
Saskatchewan (CAFS)
11. Doukhobor Cultural Society of Saskatchewan
12. Festival Culinaire et Culturel Africain de Regina
13. Family Service Saskatoon
14. Ghanaian-Canadian Association of Saskatchewan
15. Girl Guides of Canada - Saskatchewan Council
16. Global Indigenous Experience Network Inc.
17. Global Youth Education Network (Next Up)
18. Heritage Community Association
19. Igbo Cultural Association of Saskatchewan Inc.
20. India Canada Association of Sask Inc. (ICA)
21. Kenyan Community in Regina Inc.
22. Moose Jaw Multicultural Council Inc. (MJWC)
23. Multi-Faith Saskatchewan
24. Ness Creek Cultural & Recreational Society Inc.
25. Prince Albert Multicultural Council (PAMC)
26. READ Saskatoon
27. Regina and District Jewish Association
28. Regina Immigrant Women Centre (RIWC)
29. Regina Jazz Society Inc.
30. Regina Multicultural Council (RMC)
31. Regina Open Door Society Inc. (RODS)
32. Rielco Productions
33. Sâkêwêwak Artists Collective Inc.
34. Saskatchewan Archaeological Society (SAS)
35. Saskatchewan African Canadian Heritage
Museum Inc.(SACHM)
36. Saskatchewan Intercultural Association (SIA)
37. Saskatchewan Caribbean-Canadian Association
(SCCA)
38. Saskatchewan Choral Federation Inc.
39. Saskatchewan Jamaican Association (SJA)
40. Saskatoon Folkfest Inc.
41. Spring Free From Racism (SFFR)
42. Societé historique de la Saskatchewan Inc.
43. Southeast Newcomer Services
44. Southern Saskatchewan Summer Solstice
Festival d’été
45. Southwest Multicultural Association (SWMA)
46. Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre (SWNWC)
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47. Teachers of English as a Subsequent Language (TESL
SASK)
48. Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan
(UCAS)
49. Weyburn & District Multicultural Council
50. YMCA of Moose Jaw
51. Yorkton Short Film and Video Festival
52. Yorkton Mental Health Drop-In Centre Inc.

Individuals

1. Asit Sarkar
2. Bruno Kossmann
3. Delmar Pearson
4. Harvey Knight
5. Joanne White
6. Julio Torres-Recinos
7. Kam Teo
8. Michelle Sanderson
9. Muna De Ciman
10. Renata Cosic
11. Terri Sleeva
12. Xiao Feng Zhang

Business/Institution/Gov’t
1. Confederation Park Community School /
Confederation Park Parent and Community
School Council Inc.
2. City of Lloydminster

Partners

1. Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan
(AFCS)
2. Amnesty International
3. Carlton Trail Regional College
4. City of Regina
5. City of Saskatoon
6. Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada
7. Conseil Culturel Fransaskois
8. Daughters of Africa
9. Department of Canadian Heritage
10. Heritage Saskatchewan
11. Humboldt Regional Newcomer Centre
12. Indian and Métis Friendship Centre of Prince Albert
13. International Women of Saskatoon (IWS)
14. Lieutenant Governor’s Office
15. MacKenzie Art Gallery
16. Ministry of Economy
17. Ministry of Education
18. Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport
19. Multilingual Library Services Committee
20. New Dance Horizons
21. Newo-Yotina Friendship Centre
22. Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement
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and Integration Agencies (SAISIA)
23. Saskatchewan German Council (SGC)
24. Saskatchewan Human Rights Commission (SHRC)
25. Saskatchewan Lotteries
26. Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages
(SOHL)
27. Saskatchewan Settlement Workers in Schools
28. Saskatchewan Writers’ Guild (SWG)
29. Saskatoon Open Door Society (SODS)
30. SaskCulture

31. Southeast Newcomer Services
32. Theatre Saskatchewan
33. Ukrainian Canadian Congress - Saskatchewan
Provincial Council (UCC-SPC)
34. University of Regina
35. University of Saskatchewan
36. UR Pride Centre for Sexuality and Gender Diversity
37. Weyburn Public Library
38. YWCA Prince Albert

MCoS Board of Directors
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is governed by an elected Board of Directors. The diverse wisdom and
devotion the directors bring to their broad work on vision and policy complements the dedication of the staff to
achieve and advance multiculturalism and demonstrate the provincial motto: From Many Peoples Strength. These
volunteers serve as cultural ambassadors in all areas of the province.
The current directors were elected in June 2014 or June 2015 at the MCoS AGM to serve a two-year term.

President
Bruno Kossmann

Past-President
Darlene Stakiw

Theo Tibo
Vice-President

Treasurer
Asit Sarkar

Director/Secretary
Neeraj Saroj

Director
Julio Torres-Recinos

Director
Xiao Feng Zhang

Director
Muna De Ciman

Director
Meka Okochi

Director
Renata Cosic

Director
Harvey Knight

The role of the board:
1. To ensure that the MCoS achieves its vision and mission.
2. To oversee MCoS’ organizational and financial health so that it may continue to fulfil its
vision and mission.
3. To direct, influence and monitor MCoS’ business.
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MCoS Staff

Executive Director
Rhonda Rosenberg

Administrative and
Communications Assistant
Andrea MacLeod

Administrative
Assistant
Titilayo Omolola

Communications
Coordinator
Justin Waldrop

Education Coordinator
Heather Ritenburg
(Sept 2015 - Jan 2016)

Education Coordinator
Yordanos Tesfamariam
(Feb 2016 - Present)

Multicultural Values
Multicultural values are rooted in the provincial motto From Many Peoples Strength. All MCoS work is
guided by these values which are expressed as:

Respect for Diversity
We recognize the multicultural diversity of the people of Saskatchewan. We believe in the strength of
supporting cultural continuity and pride in one’s cultural ancestries. We celebrate the sharing between
cultures because culture is a two way street.

Recognition and Rejection of Racism

We recognize the negative impact of racism and discrimination. We promote the importance of all people in
overcoming these issues to achieve equitable outcomes for all Saskatchewan residents.

Intercultural Connections

We actively support and encourage efforts to bring communities together in ways that will build relationships
based on understanding and respect to foster capacity for problem solving and planning.

Integration
We support welcoming and inclusive communities that create a sense of home and belonging. We recognize
the creativity and innovation that arise from bringing different cultural perspectives together and cultivating
the unique contributions of all.
Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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Streams of Multicultural Work
The multicultural values are embedded within the multicultural streams. These streams represent the main
tenants of multiculturalism and are the focus of our programming.

Cultural
Continuity
Celebration
of Diversity

Anti-Racism

Intercultural
Connections

Integration
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Cultural Continuity empowers ethnocultural

organizations, individuals and communities to retain,
maintain and evolve distinctive cultural practices and
traditions in the Canadian context. Supported through
investments in Strategic Initiatives and showcased at events such
as Multicultural Celebration at the MacKenzie Art Gallery.

Celebration of Diversity includes education
and festivals that showcase differences and similarities,
most often through performance, cuisine and other arts.
It includes an awareness that groups that include many
perspectives, especially from different cultural world views, lead
to greater creativity and innovation. Sponsorship of major events, such
as Mosaic, Folkfest, Motif, as well as some Strategic Initiative and many
Multicultural Education Initiative investments.

Anti-Racism work looks at issues of power and
privilege and how they impact individual and systemic
discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to
build equity and justice in our institutions and communities.
MCoS coordinates an annual March 21st campaign, facilitates Arrêt/
Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops and invests in member and school
activities that recognize and reject racism and discrimination.

Intercultural Connections entails different
cultural groups coming together over time to build
bridges i.e. exchanges, pen pals, cooperative work, creating
safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. Investments
through Intercultural Connections are good examples, as is the BRIDGES
project in partnership with Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan
(AFCS) and Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement and
Integration Agencies (SAISIA).

Integration is focused on facilitating the
process immigrants and refugees experience beyond
settlement to become part of their new Canadian
communities. It includes seeing themselves and being seen as
contributors and feeling welcome to be themselves in many contexts.
INVOLVE is a current partnership with SAISIA and SaskCulture to nurture
newcomers as volunteer leaders.
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan

Investments and Funding
2015-16

Table of all programs funded

MCoS Funding and Grant Programs
Program Name
Strategic Initiatives
Intercultural Connections
Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEI)
Sponsorships
March 21st Events

Total # Funded

Total $ Funded

20

$35,700

4

$8,500

34

$10,400

7

$11,750

5

$7,050

Total:

$73,400

Provincial Public Education Campaigns
Campaign Name

Total $ Funded

March 21st Programming

$25,693

Saskatchewan Multicultural Week

$17,355
Total:

$43,048

Partnership Projects
We Are SK PSAs, International Women’s Day,
BRIDGES, Queen City Pride, Integration Forum,
INVOLVE, and Indigenous Welcomes for Syrian Refugees
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Total:

$5,697
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MCoS Strategic Directions and
STRATEGIC DIRECTION #1: The capacity of MCoS is strengthened.
1.1. Ensure MCoS’
financial
soundness

i. AGF funding increase of 41% 2013-14, 3% 2014-15 and 5.8% 2015-16 (65% over
3 years); other new funding and increases sought and most attained. (Note:
The significant increases for 2016-19 will be reported on next year).
ii. Self-generated revenue increased by $16,036 or 75% through sales,
memberships, fees for service, and sponsorships. $10,000 is dedicated for
our reserve fund.
iii. Extremely strong AGF feedback both for the 2013-16 plan and the new
2016-19 plan.

1.2. Enhance
communications
capacity

i. Approval of AGF request resulted in hiring a professional Communications
Coordinator.
ii. Budget for an advanced set of tools:
a. New web site and electronic newsletter launched (2013).
b. Attracted over 100 media stories (2013-2016).
c. MCoS has become a sought out contact for the media.
d. Enhanced social media (Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and LinkedIn)
presence with increased followers and engagement (2013-16).

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #2: The capacity of the multicultural community is strengthened.
2.1. Enhance support
to members

i. Worked with regional councils to create criteria for annual funding. Included
the plan in AGF application. New budget does not allow immediate
implementation; we continue to seek funds for this purpose.
ii. Effort to utilize funding programs to support organizations to move MCoS’
Ends forward in communities.
iii. The AGM and 40th Anniversary Gala, Intersections of Oppressions during Pride
Week in Regina, Integration Forum, the events during Saskatchewan
Multicultural Week (Honours and MacKenzie), March 21st, Indigenous
Welcomes for Syrian Refugees, and International Women’s Day (9 orgs in
2016) were all opportunities for members to link and learn from each other.

2.2. Strengthen the
capacity to
develop, recruit
and retain
leaders

i. INVOLVE in partnership with RODS and SaskCulture was successfully piloted in
Regina. MCoS is working with SAISIA and SaskCulture on plans for a small
centre pilot.
ii. The ED has been in contact with three possible succession planning
facilitators. The Education Coordinator will organize workshops in 2016-19.

2.3. Develop a deeper
understanding of
multiculturalism
in the
multicultural
community

i. Invested in Intercultural Connections activities, Creative Collaborations
workshop with Flo Frank at the AGM, Common Ground, an intercultural drum
circle at the MacKenzie Art Gallery, Indigenous Welcomes for Syrian Refugees,
and International Women’s Day - intercultural dance party and solidarity on
the issue of violence and MMIW. March 21st anti-racism campaign.
ii. Above events plus newsletter, web site, social media, and conversations.

2.4. Core MCoS
activities
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i. Education and Youth Leadership:
a. Funded schools through Multicultural Education Initiatives.
b. Held Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops – increased numbers
and locations and connection to March 21st campaign and we heard how
facilitators are using the skills they are developing.
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2015-16 Accomplishments
STRATEGIC DIRECTION #3: Governments and public institutions are demonstrating a
commitment to supporting cultural diversity, inclusion and new immigrants through their
actions, policies and programs.
3.1. Take the lead
in the
development of a
community
advocacy
strategy and
coordinated
action plan

i. Created a template to identify issues and develop strategies.
ii. MCoS and multiculturalism attracted considerable media and official attention
during 2015-16.
iii. Leveraged relationships with the Government of Saskatchewan, especially the
Ministries of Education and Parks, Culture and Sport, the cities of Regina,
Saskatoon and Lloydminster, the federal government through its Inter-Action
program for our anti-racism work, as well as with schools.
iv. Campaigns raised awareness of multicultural issues in line with our values in
the federal and provincial elections.
v. Advocated for restoration of heritage languages funding.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #4: MCoS’ values are widely reflected in the community continued.
4.1. Implement
learning,
discussion and
forum
opportunities on
multicultural
issues

i. Youth leadership workshops in Saskatoon, Regina and Swift Current that had
almost 300 students, teachers and facilitators participate.
ii. Created Youth BRIDGES in partnership with RODS and Newo-Yotina Friendship
Centre. Three-day camp for 50 youth took place in March 2016.
iii. Over 16 requests for education presentations and workshops.
iv. Also see 2.3 for activities.

4.2. Develop a public
education
strategy

i. It was developed as part of our advocacy strategy. Relationships are central
to our strategy.
ii. Outreach and response to media to promote multicultural values and
perspective on current events, e.g. terrorist attacks in Paris, Syrian refugees.
iii. The federal and provincial election campaigns were opportunities to educate
and mobilize stakeholders and the general public to demonstrate the
importance of multicultural values and issues.
iv. We Are SK PSAs three-month campaign using Facebook ads.

4.3. Promote
awareness of
multiculturalism
through support
of multicultural
activities

i. MCoS supports activities through investments and sponsorships that fulfill
criteria to encourage the broad practice of MCoS’ values:
a. Coordinated provincial campaigns for Saskatchewan Multicultural Week and
March 21st (increased this year with support from Inter-Action), and We Are
SK PSAs.
b. Ensure investment programs are able to assist organizations to promote
multiculturalism and move MCoS mission, aims, objectives and values
forward in their respective communities.
c. Investment and Sponsorship programs (see table on page 22).
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Programs and Services

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan invests in its members and the multicultural
community of Saskatchewan through its programs and services: A) Multicultural
Education Initiatives, B) Strategic Initiatives, C) Intercultural Connections, D)
Sponsorships, and E) MCoS Initiatives & Partnerships. This year, we present highlights
of our programs and services organized by the five streams of multicultural work:
1) Cultural Continuity, 2) Celebration of Diversity, 3) Anti-Racism, 4) Intercultural
Connections, and 5) Integration.

1. Cultural Continuity
Empowers ethnocultural organizations, individuals and communities to retain, maintain
and evolve distinctive cultural practices and traditions in the Canadian context.

Carisask Carnival
Carisask is an annual Caribbean festival put on by the Saskatchewan Caribbean Canadian Association (SCCA). It is
held in Regina and showcases the arts and cultures of the Caribbean, demonstrating cultural continuity. The event
includes a parade with mas bands (masquerade bands that are the equivalent of parade floats) that dance their
way to Wascana Park, followed by festivities in the park, live performances of reggae, calypso, steel pan music,
and Caribbean dancers. Caribbean food is always a highlight.
“By embracing and sharing the carnival tradition through our parade and park events, we share Caribbean
culture. The inclusive nature of our event is deliberate, although we organize it in a fashion that the tradition
is respected,” says Fitz Solomon, SCCA. “In the past, there has been representation by First Nations youth
and adults in the parade. The family-oriented event includes live entertainment, authentic Caribbean cuisine,
children’s activities with a cultural education aspect.”

Bringing First Nations Culture and Perspective Alive
through Language and Ceremony
Confederation Park Community School in Saskatoon has two streams of education: regular public school stream
and the Nêhiyâwiwin Cree Language and Culture Program from Pre-Kindergarten to Grade 7. Culture and
ceremony play a large role in students’ achievement in learning Cree language and academic success. In October,
the school held a Fall Feast providing students a chance to engage in cultural continuity. They had 100 elders,
parents, children and new Canadian families attend the feast. Aboriginal and non-aboriginal families were a part
of learning from a First Nations perspective.
Feasts are among the most important and sacred of Cree traditions. They symbolize the relationship between the
community of animals and that of humans and reflect the importance of sharing. A traditional feast is a way of
showing respect to the animals who have given their lives for the benefit of the people. It is preceded by a prayer
of thanks and the host throws small portions of the foods into the fire. All food from the feast is considered
sacred and so must not be wasted or spoiled.
“We are so proud of our grade seven boys who learned the protocols and were involved as servers for the feast
and of our girls who were a part of the cooking and preparations,” said Melinda Brown, teacher. “These are
important values that are being taught in a very traditional way.”
The feast was very well received by the community and many people stated how proud of the students they
were and noted the great job the school has done in teaching the children protocols and ceremony. Students and
teachers expressed their gratitude by shaking hands and thanking departing guests.
Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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Diwali (Festival of Lights) Celebrations beyond India

“Traditional celebrations are an excellent opportunity for intercultural exchange and understanding, explains Nish
Prasad, ICA President. “These celebrations help us learn about other cultures.”
Events like the Diwali celebration, bring the community together and allow for celebration of cultural continuity;
communities can share their culture with others while also contributing their communities and to the growth of
multiculturalism in Saskatchewan.

UCAS Karibu Project
Uganda is a country with more than 50 tribes, speaking different languages and observing different customs.
In Saskatchewan, there are a number of Ugandan tribes represented including Acholi, Baganda, Banyankole,
Banyoro, Ma’di, Lugbara, Iteso, Kakwa, and Bagishu. Within the Ugandan community, they each share their
cultures and learn new values and traditions from one another each time they meet. Through the project, Karibu,
the Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan Inc. (UCAS) is able to bring together these different Ugandan
cultures through singing, dancing and dialogue.
UCAS achieved greater participation and public presence of
Ugandan-Canadian cultures through their cultural continuity
project “Karibu”. It increased intercultural collaboration
through performances within and outside Regina. In Regina,
Karibu was part of the Cathedral Village Arts Festival,
Regina Jazz Festival, and AfroFest. UCAS participated in the
intercultural drum circle at the Multicultural Celebration
hosted by MCoS and the MacKenzie Art Gallery during
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week.
Karibu performances in other parts of Saskatchewan
enhanced participation with UCAS. A drumming workshop
in Saskatoon with a Ghanaian instructor gave them the
opportunity to collaborate with a local Japanese drum group
who helped find a venue. Karibu performers learned about
Japanese drumming culture in Canada and Japan, leading to
plans for future collaboration with both the trainer and the
drumming group. As part of Culture Days, Karibu performed
in Melfort, at a celebration in honour of 100 years of Dr.
Alfred Shadd’s legacy, an event organized by the Melfort
Museum and SACHM.
“We share our rich, diverse culture with other communities
through music, dance, drama and dialogue, and also learn
a lot from other diverse cultures within the community,”
UCAS performed at the 2015 Cathedral Village Arts Festival.
explains Victor Semugooma, UCAS Projects Coordinator.
“Diversity enriches our lives and we value greatly the …
strong diverse community standing together as one as Canadians.”
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2. Celebration of Diversity
Includes education and festivals that showcase differences and similarities, most often
through performance, cuisine and other arts. It includes an awareness that groups that
include many perspectives, especially from different cultural world views, lead to greater
creativity and innovation.

“We Are One, No Borders” Multicultural Showcase
The We Are One, No Borders Multicultural Showcase was hosted at Lakeland College in Lloydminster on July 1,
2015. The event had 14 cultural stations that attendees could visit to view art, fashion, general information,
or try delicious cultural dishes. On the stage there were 12 different cultural performances, showcasing live
music, dance, a fashion show and traditional storytelling. Prior to each cultural performance, an informational
PowerPoint presentation ran to educate and captivate the 750 visitors.
Residents had an opportunity to sample foods, music, fashion, cultural artifacts, and art from 18 cultures, plus an
opportunity to see how each adds value to the community. The cultures represented and showcased at the event
reflected local diversity: First Nations, Canadian/French Canadian, Ukraine, Nepal, Pakistan, Venezuela, Peru,
Cuba, Mexico, Hungary, China, Scotland, Ireland, Germany, Greece, Latin America, Jamaica, and the Philippines.
The Canada Day showcase drew
tremendous volunteer support
with over 150 community
members helping out with
the event. Volunteers worked
collaboratively with individuals
from various cultures to put
on the event in a process that
encouraged sharing, learning,
and cooperation. Volunteer
engagement developed new
contacts in the community,
setting the ground for
intercultural connections.
“The Multicultural Showcase
raised awareness in the
community that Lloydminster
is a culturally diverse and
multicultural city. Of the
64 surveys completed, 100%
Children representing their cultures through traditional dress.
indicated that this event
demonstrates that Lloydminster
is a multicultural community,” stated Patrick Lancaster with the City of Lloydminster.

AfroFest: Celebrating Africa’s Diverse Cultures!
In 2013, a small group of individuals with roots in Africa, embarked on an endeavour to promote African music
and culture. They launched Regina AfroFest in 2014 as Saskatchewan’s only outdoor African music festival.
Awelana Akeriwe, Executive Director of AfroFusion Entertainment Inc., explains it was formed to bring people
together in celebration of all that we have in common. “There’s a saying that music is a universal language, there
are no language barriers. AfroFest is about experiencing African music, and traditions and increasing awareness
and interest in African culture,” states Awelana. “And for me, it’s also about going back to what creates my
identity. It’s a way of keeping my identity alive!”
Annual Report 2015 - 2016

25

In its first year, Regina AfroFest
featured music from West Africa
with its traditional drumming and
in 2015, the festival celebrated
music originating in East Africa
with a strong rhythmic influence.
The festival has been fortunate
to have some of the best African
performers grace its stage including
award winning artists such as Adam
Solomon from the African Guitar
Summit, Njacko Backo, Master
drummer Amara Kanté and his
Kouraba Folila Troupe, and Casimiro
and NAfro band from Zimbabwe.
The event drew over 1,500 guests
over two days. The marketplace,
AfroFest attendees participate in Kizomba dance lessons.
food and craft vendors, drum and
dance workshops and relaxed atmosphere are some of the things that make this event unique and enjoyable.
This year’s festival is slated for Saturday, July 9th at Victoria Park in Regina. It will feature the best line up to date
with performances by top international groups and local African musicians and artists. Enjoy all that AfroFest
2016 has to offer!

Multicultural Celebration: Drumming Across Cultures
On November 15, 2015 a Multicultural
Celebration took place at the
Mackenzie Art Gallery in Treaty
4 territory hosted in partnership
with the Multicultural Council of
Saskatchewan. This event is part
of Saskatchewan Multicultural
Week. The focus of the event was
celebrating cultural diversity through
drumming across cultures. Four
experienced drummers and groups
from several cultural traditions
(Ranch Ehrlo pow wow drum group,
Uganda Canadian Association of
Saskatchewan (UCAS), Carol Daniels
and Muna De Ciman) took turns
sharing their styles and teaching
everyone to join.

Muna De Ciman and Carol Daniels join together to
create an intercultural drumming experience.

Allen Ssemmanda, a member of UCAS, and one of the featured drummers shared her experience of the event,
“I love to hear how the others play their drums and see how they relate with others. I appreciate having the
freedom to play my music.”
With the recent terrorist attacks and the Syrian refugee crisis in mind, the Honourable Mark Docherty, Minister
of Parks, Culture and Sport stated, “We should recognize just how lucky we are to be in this country, to be in
this province, to be together and know full well that this kind of gathering isn’t welcome in a lot of places around
this world.”
The conclusion of the event was a traditional Indigenous round dance. All drummers joined the Ranch Ehrlo
pow wow drum group, while the audience participated in this dance of friendship. It was an expression of the
intercultural connections formed at the event.
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3. Anti-Racism
This work looks at issues of power and privilege and how they impact individual and
systemic discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to build equity and justice in
our institutions and communities.

Only laundry should be separated by colour
#MarchOutRacism
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan recognizes the negative impact of racism and discrimination with
the anti-racism stream of multicultural work. We promote
the importance of all people in overcoming these issues to
achieve equitable outcomes for all Saskatchewan residents.
We run a provincial campaign each March commemorating
March 21st: The International Day for the Elimination of Racial
Discrimination. It is supported by grants from Immigration,
Refugees and Citizenship Canada, the Ministry for Parks,
Culture and Sport and annual funding from Saskatchewan
Lotteries through SaskCulture.
The popular “Only laundry should be separated colour”
posters, which we created in partnership with the
Saskatchewan Human Rights Commission, set the theme.
Using this theme, we promoted the campaign on the MCoS
web site, MCoS newsletter, sending posters and stickers to all
schools in Saskatchewan, one of the We Are SK public service
announcements entitled, “Overcoming Discrimination”, a
banner ad on the SOS Safety Magazine web site, bus board
ads, a feature in the Leader-Post and Star Phoenix and
promoting the workshops in the STF Bulletin.
We incorporated the campaign launch into the Arrêt/Stop
Racism youth leadership workshops to promote the kits for
the laundry flash mob activity. We distributed over 200 kits,
with many schools and MCoS members participating. Some
campaign participants received media coverage this year,
indicating a growing interest in our campaigns and antiracism work.

Grades 1-4 students from Buena Vista School
in Saskatoon created a miniature laundry
flashmob clothing line and wrote
anti-racism messages on their shirts.

The introduction of a new social media element, #marchoutracism, enabled participants to use this hash tag to
post content on Twitter, Instagram and Facebook. Posts were collected with TINT for viewing on the web site.
There were over 90 posts by participants and over 130 visitors viewed our TINT. MCoS plans to continue using
social media hash tags and TINT in future campaigns to reach and engage more people.
Every year, MCoS offers an opportunity for high school students to participate in Arrêt/Stop Racism youth
leadership workshops. Students engage with peers from around the province to participate in activities that
explore identity, intercultural relationships, power, privilege, racism, and discrimination. They also learn to
facilitate these activities for use in the local school and community. Almost 300 students, facilitators, and staff
participated in workshops in Regina, Saskatoon, and Swift Current. These workshops serve as both preparation
for and a launch into the March 21st campaign. The Ministry of Education provided funding that allowed us to
expand to a third location in Swift Current. MCoS developed partnerships with the cities of Regina and Saskatoon,
Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre (SWNWC), Saskatchewan Settlement Workers in School (SSWIS), Regina
Open Door Society (RODS), and Saskatchewan Teachers of English as a Second Language (SK TEAL). MCoS hopes to
expand to La Ronge to better serve northern communities in the future.
Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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MCoS appreciates the high level of 2016 campaign participation. Through our support and local initiative:
• Students from St. Mary’s School in Saskatoon held a flash mob at the University of Saskatchewan to draw
attention to Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women. Their flash mob can viewed at:
http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/saskatoon/saskatoon-students-flash-mob-mmiw-1.3501300
• Diversity was celebrated at Swift Current’s Market Square where the Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre
was joined by 13 organizations to march out racism. A video of their activities can be viewed at:
https://vimeo.com/160358658?from=outro-embed
• Prince Albert Multicultural Council (PAMC) and Common Ground (BRIDGES) hosted “A Night to Unite”. The
event was well attended with 60 guests. Among the guests were PAMC English students, clients, staff and
family, performers and friends, a Syrian Family and First Nations and Métis community members.
• Saskatchewan Intercultural Association (SIA) hosted its annual Film Festival titled: Reel-to-Real: Confronting
Racism through Film and over 200 people attended. The feature film was “Salam Neighbor” followed by a
refugee panel discussion.
• MCoS sponsored Spring Free From Racism again this year which saw over 5,000 people attend and experience
extensive cultural diversity through food, clothing, and dance.
• Moose Jaw Multicultural Council distributed anti-racism information and ribbons to businesses. SWIS used the
anti-racism facilitator training to conduct presentations for students of all ages on discrimination, diversity,
racism, privilege, and multiculturalism from March 14th -21st.
MCoS received great interest in this campaign. We had 1210 unique visits to our web site related to the antiracism youth leadership workshops and March 21st. We received 13 media stories during the campaign. In a followup survey sent out to all participants, of those who responded, all of them agreed that this campaign had an
impact on how others understand or act to counter racism and discrimination. The majority felt the campaign had
an impact their own understanding of racism and discrimination. All those surveyed said they would participate in
a similar campaign again led by MCoS. We look forward to expanding and developing the March 21st campaign for
future years.

March 21st Laundry flash mob at Swift Current’s Market
Square had 13 organizations attend and was organized
by the Southwest Multicultural Association and Southwest
Newcomer Welcome Centre.

Students from Saskatoon's St. Mary's Wellness and Education
Centre held a flash mob at the University of Saskatchewan to
draw attention to Missing and Murdered Aboriginal Women.
Swift Current Arrêt/Stop
Racism Youth Leadership
Workshop: The youth
are engaged in an
activity where they
create a sculpture of
discriminatory behaviour
and the entire group
seeks transformative
possibilities.
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4. Intercultural Connections
Entails different cultural groups coming together over time to build bridges through
exchanges, cooperative work, creating safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc.

Workshop for French language education of first relations
with Indigenous Peoples
In response to a lack of capacity in the francophone community to present the history and traditions that the
francophone community has with Indigenous people, the Société historique de la Saskatchewan (SHS)
developed French school curriculum about first relations between Indigenous and francophone people. This
education highlights cultural, social and economic changes as well as benefits provided by these two groups
to Western Canada. With this presentation, students learn about Canadian Indigenous culture and history. As
there is no French Indigenous storyteller in Saskatchewan, SHS is the first organization to work toward building
bridges between the French community and the Indigenous people - the work of the multicultural stream of
intercultural connections.
The storyteller was inspired by and received permission from two Indigenous story tellers to share the stories and
knowledge in the French and French immersion schools in Saskatchewan. The interactive presentations cover four
topics to increase understanding of the Indigenous way of life and their fundamental values: Colonization and its
impact on Indigenous peoples, a creation story, taking responsibility, and bullying.
“Sharing the stories in French will help to create understanding and respect for Indigenous stories and will help
all Canadians understand a major part of Reconciliation – respecting each other’s stories,” says Paul Daigneault,
Aboriginal Community Development Officer, Prince Albert Parole Office.
Understanding each other’s culture to develop a shared respectful multicultural life in our home province is
at the root of intercultural connections. We hope that this will open the door to further interest towards the
Indigenous peoples of Canada and help build a united community.

Curtis McAdam, Cree storyteller, teaching the "Cree Legends of Creation"
to the students at a French immersion school in Prince Albert.
Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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BRIDGES: Phase 2 Finding Common Ground in
Prince Albert
BRIDGES, (Building Relationships Interculturally through Dialogue and Growing Engagement in Saskatchewan) is
a provincial partnership between the Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan, the Aboriginal Friendship Centres
of Saskatchewan (AFCS) and the Saskatchewan Association for Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies
(SAISIA). The three organizations are acutely aware of the challenges posed to all Canadians by the legacies of
colonialism, including legal restrictions and residential schools, and the need to break down stereotypes and
build relationships. As a country, we are just beginning to embark on the long-term process of reconciliation.
Establishing trust takes time and can be achieved by getting to know each other, learning about norms, protocols
and traditions, sharing cultural practices and values, and seeing each other as community members with a
common stake in the future.
Made possible by a grant from SaskCulture’s Multicultural Initiatives Fund to AFCS, the project is about removing
barriers to connections so Indigenous and newcomer participants can learn about each other, identify individual
and cultural similarities and differences, and see each other as allies. This strengthens the fabric of communities,
so people are able to plan for the future and resolve issues as they arise. During Phase 1: Blueprints for BRIDGES
with research through literature, interviews and consultations, the partners recognized a need and desire to
offer opportunities for communities to learn and engage in BRIDGES activities that can be demonstrated to have
a positive impact on participants and their communities. Phase 2: Pilot Project Common Ground was created in
partnership with the Prince Albert Multicultural Council (PAMC), the Indian and Métis Friendship Centre of Prince
Albert (IMFCPA) and the YWCA of Prince Albert, with Karen Cay as project coordinator.
To accomplish phase 2 of this project, local partners planned two series of monthly gatherings from September
to March; one aimed at the staff/organizational level, with the three local partners, and the other at a social/
community level, to get people to connect. The first community gathering was Tapestrama, PAMC’s yearly
celebration of cultural diversity in September. There were some interactions between newcomers and long
term First Nations residents at the festival. The October gathering was the friendship centre’s annual round
dance that, with fantastic guidance from Elder Stuart Amyotte, took on a multicultural ambience and provided
a good way to introduce people to Indigenous culture in a relaxed social atmosphere. The December potluck
supper included PAMC student presentations about their home countries and impromptu speakers representing
Cree, Métis and Dene cultures. In January, Cay experimented with an activity of Talking Tables: one on one
conversations between a First Nations/Métis person and a Newcomer on topics such as “what did you enjoy as a
child?” and “what are your hopes, your family, and your fears?” Intense and enthusiastic conversations ensued,
leaving participants emotional from the connections with people they had seen as very different. Intercultural
Storytelling with Word, Music and Dance provided an opportunity to share traditional stories and personal stories
resulting in real understanding beyond misconceptions transmitted by media and social media to a common sense
of both suffering and wonder. The Intercultural Shindig was the final event of the pilot project with performers,
games, and a potluck supper.
“[Misunderstandings] are based on perceptions of both group. The best way to overcome dehumanization is to
learn about each other,” explains Karen Cay, Project Coordinator. “Then “them” becomes “us”, and there is no
racism/discrimination in us.”
Dr. Joe Garcea, a political science professor from the University of Saskatchewan, helped to design a process to
assess the impact of each activity. A positive outcome could be participants choosing to work together on other
community action projects. This will assist the provincial partners to create a framework to support intercultural
connections across the province. We intend to establish a set of criteria for local projects that we can offer
funding and training support through the Education and BRIDGES Coordinator in BRIDGES phase 3.
The BRIDGES partnership shares a belief that a welcoming community is one that encourages and promotes
positive aspects of cultural diversity and seeks out commonalities in humans by developing intercultural
relationships. We hope that Common Ground will serve as a model for education, understanding, and interaction
between newcomers and Indigenous people.
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Tapestrama
This is an annual event in Prince
Albert that is a celebration of
cultural diversity. Participants
joined the Prince Albert
Multicultural Council to attend this
event and experience the cultural
diversity of Prince Albert.

Round Dance
This event took place at the Prince
Albert Indian Métis Friendship
Centre. It included a Potluck
Supper and Information Sharing to
foster bonding among attendees.

Talking Tables
This event mixed speed dating with
the Human Library. Two people
per table: one FN, one immigrant.
They had 5 minutes to discuss a
given subject before the switch. It
was the most popular and effective
gathering. Very powerful.

Storytelling
This event featured storytelling
from Nigeria, China, Ukraine, pow
wow dancers with a full description
of the drums and regalia, and
Wasahkecahk Tales.

Intercultural Shindig
This event brought people
together for a potluck. It featured
performers, art, and games focused
on different cultures.

Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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BRIDGES: Indigenous Welcomes for Syrian Refugees
The provincial BRIDGES partnership chose to respond to the arrival of government-assisted Syrian refugees
in Prince Albert, Saskatoon, Regina and Moose Jaw with an initiative to ensure that this group of newcomers
understand our history and current issues, our treaty relationships and have the opportunity to get to know
Indigenous Canadians and their rich culture in an atmosphere of sharing. We worked with local friendship centres,
settlement agencies and multicultural organizations in each location to invite Indigenous Elders, youth and drum
groups as well as Syrian refugees and other recent newcomers, and local leaders to join us. We are able to do this
important work through the support of SaskCulture.
Drum groups played honour songs for a grand entry. Elders shared blessings, cultural values and brief histories
of the relations between Indigenous people and Europeans, including Treaties. Indigenous youth shared their
perspectives on the importance of recognizing people in distress throughout the world and welcoming them to
make a new home in Canada when they must leave. Interpreters were on hand to ensure shared information was
understood by everyone. We participated in a round dance and learned that it is a dance of peace and friendship
that bridges the physical and spiritual worlds. Syrian newcomers shared a lively dance that is also done in a
circle, demonstrating the commonalities between cultures as we explore specific traditions and beliefs.
“MCoS and its partners hope that this sets the stage for respect and understanding of Canadian history and is the
beginning of opportunities for intercultural gatherings for education and sharing,” explains Rhonda Rosenberg,
Executive Director for MCoS.

Over 100 people attended the Indigenous Welcomes for Syrian Refugees in Regina at the Queensbury Convention Centre on
February 26, 2016. Several media attended the event and reps from the Syrian and Indigenous communities were interviewed.

Youth BRIDGES
How did you spend your spring holidays? For about 40 young people in Regina, the answer would be making
new friends while learning about other cultures. The goal was to build relationships between Indigenous and
newcomer youth based on mutual understanding and respect. MCoS coordinated a three-day workshop for teens
(13 and 21 years) from the Regina Open Door Society (RODS) and Newo-Yotina Friendship Centre (NYFC) to learn
about Indigenous culture and history, and relate to peers: Building Bridges between Indigenous and Newcomer
Youth, or Youth BRIDGES.
The first day focused on building a safe and welcoming environment through cross-cultural communication,
sharing cultural practices and a brief history from a First Nations perspective. Day two was the highlight of the
program for many: a visit to Ed Bitternose’s medicine ranch on the George Gordon First Nation, where they
learned the importance of bison, the significance of horses, the meanings of tipi poles and the paintings on it.
Bitternose arranged a tour of the school, a monument to the children who went through the residential school
– this was the last one closed in 1996 - and to the employment training centre to provide awareness of both
hardships and resources. The generous hospitality of the reserve community and the opportunities for informal
interaction allowed participants to appreciate each other and develop relationships. The final day combined
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community service at the
Regina Food Bank to create an
opportunity to work together and
give back to the community with
a traditional talking circle and a
celebration. Provided with food,
interactive arts and music at the
Newo-Yotina Friendship Centre,
youth were in no hurry to leave.
They clearly expressed the desire
to continue to learn, work, and
have fun together.
“Through the three days of
gathering, we were able to witness
the young people evolving from
the first day where there was
limited interaction, to the second
day where they were exchanging
Ed Bitternose, Owner of the Touchwood Medicine Ranch, located at Gordon’s
Facebook info, to the third day
First Nation, explains the cultural significance and many uses of bison hide.
where they were exchanging
phone numbers,” observed Yordanos Tesfamariam, MCoS Education Coordinator.

Clearspring Connections
This year marks Hugh Cairns V.C. School’s fourth visit to the Clearspring Hutterite Colony. This relationship
began in 2013, when the Grade 7/8’s, along with their Grade 2/3 Care Partners, spent the entire year visiting
and learning about various cultures in Saskatchewan. Since then, the trip to Clearspring has become an annual
tradition, deepening the relationship between the two schools.
Most of the students and parent volunteers have never visited a Hutterite colony, making the trip to Clearspring
colony a new experience. The day starts with a
brief introduction to the language, religion, beliefs,
and communal lifestyle of the colony. In partners,
students learn about each other across culture and
language differences. Clearspring students lead a tour
of the entire colony, proudly indicating communal
lifestyle through facilities and knowledge. The Hugh
Cairns students, year after year, comment on the
self-sufficiency of the colony and its members.
“My favourite part of the trip was when we were
paired up with a student from Clearspring, and
compared our answers to various questions about
ourselves,” said Vurjeet, a student. “It was
interesting to learn about how different our lifestyle
is compared to theirs.”
The visits have fostered intercultural connections
between the schools (teachers, students and
parents) through personal connections that enable
the mutual sharing of cultures and ways of living.
Students from Hugh Cairns and Clearspring use activity
The colony students also benefit greatly as they
sheets entitled, “25 Things I Need to Know” to learn
get to experience these visits multiple years in a
about each other’s culture and way of life.
row, allowing for more connections and improving
their confidence in speaking English and leading tours. Participants are able to find increased understanding and
respect for each other and replace any previous stereotyping or judging.
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5. Integration
Integration is focused on facilitating the process immigrants and refugees experience
beyond settlement to become part of their new Canadian communities. It includes
seeing themselves and being seen as contributors and feeling welcome to be themselves
in many contexts.

Integration Forum
MCoS partnered with the Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies (SAISIA)
and SaskCulture to hold a forum on integration in October 2015. It served as an extension of the 2014 Settlement
and Integration Summit hosted by SAISIA that focused on settlement, which is the acclimatization and the early
stages of adaptation. Once again, government and community settlement, multicultural, and ethnocultural
organizations gathered for learning and dialogue, this time at Wanuskewin Heritage Park in Saskatoon, to
articulate a common understanding of integration.
The keynote address was delivered by Carl Nicolson, Executive Director of Catholic Immigrant Services in Ottawa.
An integration showcase panel presented examples of integration programs and services offered in the province.
Facilitated discussion centred on questions such as: What do we know about integration of immigrants in
Saskatchewan? Are there gaps? If so, how do we fill them?

Emerging Concepts of Integration
1. Inclusiveness, sense of belonging, feeling of acceptance, making roots and connections, a sense of
giving and taking.
2. Ability to contribute to community, free of barriers, where everybody feels safe, where trust is
present, and mistakes are learning opportunities.
3. The community recognizes contributions.
4. Cultural identity remains strong and is seen as an asset.
5. The experience and definition of integration is personal.
6. Individuals no longer need specialized programs and services that are different from mainstream.
7. Education for newcomers and established community members on being a welcoming community: it
involves attitudes, values, mindsets and correcting wrong or inaccurate perceptions.
8. Having a voice that is taken seriously in a community in which one identifies as belonging and is
recognized by all as a true community member.

History and Experience of Saskatchewan Roughrider
players and personnel who "Played and Stayed"
In celebration of its 10th anniversary in September 2015, the Saskatchewan African Canadian Heritage Museum Inc.
(SACHM) hosted a symposium with over 70 people and a banquet in the evening, attended by 127 people. There
was a lot of publicity and recognition given to the legacy of Dr. Shadd and the recent production of the children’s
book Li’l Shadd: A Story of Ujima.
The symposium involved players and personnel of African ancestry from the various eras of Saskatchewan
Roughrider football, who came to play football and either stayed or returned to the province. They shared their
experiences as players and community members that illustrate an evolution from prejudice to acceptance. The
event was taped by Access Communications and will be made into a series that will educate and benefit the
general public and educators. Previous MCoS funding enabled SACHM to add “Riders who played and stayed” to
the virtual museum.
“The Saskatchewan Roughriders volunteered their time to share their stories of what it was like to come here and
what it was about Saskatchewan that made them choose stay and make this province their home,” recounts Carol
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LaFayette Boyd, Founder and
Acting Secretary of SACHM. “Their
stories were appreciated by all
who attended. They gave so much
to Saskatchewan as Roughrider
personnel and continue giving
back to the community by their
presence and involvement. SACHM
thanks them for all they do.”
Participants heard about the
challenges of discrimination,
racism and white privilege.
They learned that athletes of
African ancestry first played for
the Saskatchewan Roughriders
in 1930 and then not again until
1947-48. Other players were not
Saskatchewan Roughriders Belton Johnson, Alistair Wilson (physiotherapist),
allowed until the 50’s and then
Robert Holmes, George Reed, Andrew Greene, and Matt Dominguez shared their
there was a quota of no more than
experiences that illustrate an evolution from prejudice to acceptance.
four black players; this continued
until the 70’s. Saskatchewan
certainly appreciates the contributions of these football players, and the families that choose to integrate create
opportunities to demonstrate the benefits of multiculturalism as they continue to add value to the community
and receive the benefits of a Saskatchewan lifestyle.

Next Up! First Nations and Métis Leadership
Intensive Program
The Next Up! First Nations and Métis Leadership Summer Intensive Program was a big success again this year. The
program is designed for First Nations and Métis leaders who are committed to social and environmental justice
issues. From the beginning, the program engaged Saskatchewan communities in a crowd-funding campaign
to support the program. The success of the crowd-funding campaign, which raised over $5,000, was a clear
indication of the goodwill that exists toward Next Up!, and especially toward the programming it offers to First
Nations and Métis youth. The community, including many contributors from the alumni network and from across
many ethnic and cultural backgrounds, supports the program in multiple ways annually.
Cross-cultural support and learning is
provided as part of the program. To that
end, two reporters from the Saskatoon
StarPhoenix, Betty Ann Adam and Jason
Warick, presented on media skills. Betty
Ann, an Indigenous woman, did most of
the speaking, and Jason, a white settler
and previous presenter, was there to
support and assist her. They shared
their work as reporters and interacted
with the group to present projects to
the media in interesting and engaging
ways. The group appreciated how the
presenters demonstrated a positive
relationship as friends and colleagues,
demonstrating solidarity and deep
listening skills.
Participants spoke highly of the program
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Summer Intensive Program graduates.
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and each other in their evaluation forms and in their comments at the program graduation. In particular,
participants emphasized the learning they did about themselves, the confidence they built, and that this was a
life-changing experience. This Next Up! program builds skills and confidence for Indigenous youth to take the lead
in creating respectful, safe and culturally inclusive communities.

“We continue to see the alumni sharing memories, photos and supportive comments with one another on social
media and we can see how the program and the relationships built continue to provide alumni with confidence
and support in their day-to-day lives and activities,” says Tracy Mitchell, Next Up! Coordinator for Saskatchewan.

All Streams of Multicultural Work
The following events demonstrate all five streams of multicultural work.

MCoS 40th Anniversary Gala
40 Years of Making Multiculturalism Matter
Bruno Kossmann, President of MCoS, commenced the 40th Anniversary Gala by welcoming guests on behalf of MCoS
and acknowledging our presence on Treaty 4 land. He introduced CTV’s Nelson Bird as our Master of Ceremonies
with great appreciation. We were honoured to have The Honourable Mark Docherty, Minister of Parks, Culture
and Sport, MLA and Deputy Leader of the Opposition, Trent Wotherspoon and SaskCulture President, Pat Grayston
attend the Gala and provide remarks. We were also grateful to have Senator Panna Merchant, MLA Laura Ross and
Regina City Councillor Barbara Young in attendance.
Special invitations to attend the Gala went to people who gave their time, effort and ideas to shape MCoS in
each decade of the past 40 years. To our delight, many of them chose to come to the Gala where they enjoyed
the opportunity to reunite, reminisce and feel gratified in the ongoing success of MCoS, overcoming some
turbulent times. Guests were treated to a multicultural meal. We also aired the We Are SK PSAs and a special
commemorative 40th anniversary video. Guests enjoyed taking a journey in photos from MCoS’ inception to the
current day to the music of Andrea Menard. It was a powerful and emotional event for most and they were
grateful to be part of the celebration. View the 40th Gala and Memoriam videos here: http://mcos.ca/40years/.
Honouring Four Decades of Past, Present and Future Trailblazers
In celebration of 40 years of making multiculturalism matter in Saskatchewan, we chose to honour several people
who made a very significant difference in each decade of MCoS’ existence.
1975-1984: Getting Started – these volunteers and an early Executive Director brought many regional councils
together for common action. It was particularly exciting to have Ivy Stout In attendance, who was not only active
from the beginning of MCoS, but also on the committee that created the 1974 Saskatchewan Multicultural Act. In
this decade, MCoS honoured Terry Mountjoy, Sandra Kerr, Ivy Stout, Hamid, and Nayyar Javed (absent).
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1985-1994: Growing Roots – The four
very impressive volunteers we honour in
the second decade not only built a solid
foundation for this organization, but
are still active today. In this decade,
MCoS honoured Herman Slotsve, Krishan
Kapila, Stan Ganczar, and Shakeel
Akhtar (absent).

1995-2004: Building Community – This
was an era of reaching out, trying new
things and cultivating connections.
In this decade, MCoS honoured Mavis
Ashbourne-Palmer (in Jamaica; award
was accepted by Winnie and Barry
Rodgers), Joan Meyer, Vivian Meikle,
Orest Warnyca, and Satpal Singh Virdi
(absent).

2005–2014: Making a Difference – This
period saw a great deal of change for
MCoS and we honoured people in roles
including board members, staff and
a stalwart supporter who supported
building a new foundation to enable
effective leadership. In this decade,
MCoS honoured Darlene Stakiw, Heather
Robison, Reggie Newkirk, and Jay Kalra
(absent).
2015 & Beyond: Diversity is our Future
– We chose to honour six individuals who
are facilitators for our Arrêt/Stop Racism
Youth Leadership Workshops. They are
taking leadership and using it to nurture
youth to understand racism and find
ways to deal with discrimination more
positively. In this decade, MCoS honoured
Ranjan Datta, Jebunnessa Chapola,
Madeeh Rehman, Kelsey Lindsay, Deanna
Baje, and Dwayne Drescher (absent).
MCoS has also greatly benefited from
staff working in other organizations and
as consultants who have championed
our important role and supported us.
We took time to honour these external
staff who have made significant
contributions to MCoS over the years:
Margaret Morrissette, Rose Gilks,
Dinesh Kashyap, Bob Friedrich (absent),
and Dawn Martin (absent).
Annual Report 2015 - 2016
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There are also a number of people we have lost along the way that we honoured in a short video entitled In
Memoriam: Alex Balych, Betty Szuchewycz, Bryant Brouet, George Stushnoff, Jean Sternig, Marge Nainaar and
Peter Saganski. These Trailblazers will never be forgotten for their contributions to MCoS and to multiculturalism.
Performance Highlights Intercultural Connections
The final part of our program featured Terrance Littletent, a world champion hoop dancer who never ceases
to amaze audiences and Chancz
Perry, a multidisciplinary artist
renowned for his talents. Several
years ago, they came together to
create something new; something
that grew from the cultural roots
of each and took on its unique
Saskatchewan beauty. They created
a performance piece called Hip
Hop Hoop Dance. Award-winning
drummer Brandon Key accompanied
them. The memorable performance
included the two dancers teaching
each other and finding cultural
and dance commonalities and
differences. The audience loved
it and many guests said that they
hope it can be shared with many
more people.
Thank You to Our Supporters
MCoS was fortunate to have four Gala sponsors: TD CanadaTrust, SaskTel, Affinity Credit Union, and SIGA. Their
investment in MCoS, the gala event, and multiculturalism is greatly appreciated and we hope to continue to work
with them in the future. MCoS also received overwhelming advertising support in our 40th Gala program. We want
to thank the 33 organizations and individuals who purchased ads. MCoS appreciates their support of our 40th Gala.
Finally, we are eternally grateful for the ongoing support from SaskCulture which is funded through Saskatchewan
Lotteries. You can view the Gala program and ads here: http://mcos.ca/40years/.

MCoS Multicultural Honours
Highlights Intercultural Connections
Over 100 people gathered at Government House in Regina on Saturday, November 14th to celebrate and recognize
significant volunteer contributions to multiculturalism in Saskatchewan. This annual MCoS event, hosted by Her
Honour the Honourable Vaughn Solomon Schofield, Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan, is part of Saskatchewan
Multicultural Week, proclaimed annually by the provincial government to celebrate the Saskatchewan
Multiculturalism Act.
Her Honour, the Honourable Mark Docherty, and MCoS President Bruno Kossmann opened by recognizing and
appreciating the historical and current contributions of Saskatchewan’s Indigenous people that are foundations
for a respectful and harmonious shared future. Kossmann noted MCoS’ 40th anniversary and thanked all volunteers
around the province that make multiculturalism a central factor to the vibrancy of life in Saskatchewan. In 201415, among MCoS members over 18,200 volunteers contributed over 358,900 hours of time. He introduced a 40th
anniversary video to the audience’s enjoyment.
In the awards portion of the event, it was noted that all nominees were considered for the extent of their
involvement in the five streams of multicultural work (see page 18). This year’s award recipients are both
incredibly deserving individuals. Particularly, their intercultural connections work facilitating different cultural
groups coming together over time to build bridges should be noted. By coincidence and unknown to the
committee, they share an exemplary friendship built through this very work.
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MCoS Director and member of the recognition committee, Renata Cosic, introduced Janelle Pewapsconias as
the recipient of the 2015 Multicultural Youth Leadership Award. Janelle fulfills many roles focused on cultural
continuity within her own community of Little Pine First Nation and in Saskatoon – both of which are in Treaty
6 Territory. She is a strong single mother, a well-rounded advocate for Indigenous, social and environmental
justice, an up-and-coming spoken word artist, entrepreneur-in-training, volunteer, public speaker and learner
of her language. Janelle is the creator of the Neechi Life Games which are anti-racism tools. She participated
in the 2014 intensive summer program called “Next Up: First Nations & Métis Youth in Action” (see page 35)
where she was a strong leader within the group. Janelle is a cultural keeper and an ambassador who lives out the
multicultural values and her volunteer efforts are rooted in all five streams of multiculturalism.
“As an Indigenous person of this land, I recognize that there are people in the distress around the world and I
welcome them here with open arms.” ~ Janelle Pewapsconias
MCoS Director, member of the recognition committee, and former recipient, Muna De Ciman, introduced
Jebunnessa Chapola as the recipient of the 2015 Betty Szuchewycz Award. Jebunnessa is dedicated to uplifting
marginalized ethnic and indigenous cultures in the local and international arena and creating awareness about
the barriers to achieving gender, social and environmental justice, and working within and across new media
environments. She has participated in many diverse committees, creating space for and connecting ethnic
communities. Jebunnessa’s involvement as a Cultural Connections Coordinator for the last five years with
Ness Creek Music Festival is a prime example of cultural diversity and intercultural connections at work in the
community. This program has received several investments through MCoS’ Intercultural Connections program.
Her anti-racism and anti-oppression work is extensive and has had an impact on very broad social sectors. She
has participated in MCoS’ Arrêt/Stop Anti-Racism youth leadership workshops since 2013 as a facilitator and was
able to take the knowledge learned from these workshops and host additional workshops at Ness Creek and in the
community.
“Volunteering and being able to share my culture with others has made me feel alive again; I have purpose once
again in my life.” ~ Jebunnessa Chapola
Guests enjoyed cultural delicacies provided by Rushton’s Catering in the elegant and festive atmosphere of
the Henry Newlands Ballroom. “Cultural Treats in Context” cards adorned every table with explanations of
the savoury, sweet and fresh fruit delicacies. The reception provided a chance for socializing and photos that
facilitated celebration and connections.

Front L-R: Jebunnessa Chapola, 2015 Betty Szuchewycz Award Recipient; Her Honour the Honourable Vaughn Solomon Schofield,
Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan; His Honour the Honourable Mark Docherty, Minister of Parks, Culture and Sport; and
Janelle Pewapsconias, 2015 Multicultural Youth Leadership Award Recipient. Back L-R: MCoS Recognition Committee: Rhonda
Rosenberg, MCoS Executive Director; Renata Cosic, Board Director; Bruno Kossmann, MCoS President (ex-officio); Muna De Ciman,
Board Director; Harvey Knight, Board Director (absent from photo); and Renu Kapoor, community member (absent from photo).
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Treasurer’s Message
The 2015-16 Audited Financial Statements demonstrate responsible financial management
and planning. The auditors at MWC have again offered their unqualified opinion that the
financial statements are accurate and reflect the true financial position of MCoS. We are
grateful to the professional services at the Administration Centre for Sport, Culture and
Recreation who support our tracking, monitoring and reporting of financial transactions.
In addition, the auditors note that MCoS is a learning organization that acts on
recommendations for risk reduction and process improvement. The statements indicate
activity to meet our Ends through investment in the community and direct engagement
with a healthy surplus.
The Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flow show that there
is less cash at the end of 2015-16 than in the previous year; this is due to a change
in the timing of the deposit of funds from Saskatchewan Lotteries for the next year and is balanced by the very
small amount of deferred revenue this year. Lottery funding provides support for MCoS’ operations and much of its
program capacity. This dependence is described in Note 3. It is important to understand that our budgetary planning
is based on three-year Annual Global Funding agreements with SaskCulture; and SaskCulture together with SaskSport
and Saskatchewan Parks and Recreation have a five-year agreement with the provincial government on lottery
revenue. The Lotteries Trust Fund supports over 12,000 sport, culture and recreation organizations in Saskatchewan
communities. Lottery revenues remain stable, but are not increasing. We are grateful for this support and encourage
the sharing of the information about lottery reliance.
The Statement of Operations shows an increase in revenue from workshop service fees. This is revenue from
education activities, which is seeing both increasing demand and greater capacity with the hiring of an Education
Coordinator. The net surplus of $18,142 is the result of increased revenues and careful stewardship balanced with
strategic investment in MCoS member and partnership activities. This will allow us to meet an objective in the
2013-16 Strategic Plan, as the statements show that $10,000 will be added to the $20,000 in the reserve fund. This
is explained in Note 4. These funds must come from self-generated revenue, so that grants can be used for specific
program purposes. Sources include Multifaith Calendar sales, registrations, memberships and donations. MCoS is a
registered charity that provides tax receipts for donations. We hope you will consider MCoS when making your choices
for charitable giving and encourage others to contribute to multiculturalism in Saskatchewan.
The Statement of Cash Flow and Note 2 mention the Purchase of Capital Assets. As MCoS staff has grown, we needed
to expand our office space. We have an excellent relationship with our landlord and agreed to share the cost of
renovations, identified as leasehold improvements. In Schedule 3: Meetings, it is evident that the annual general
meeting in 2015 had considerably higher expenses than in 2014. This was due to the 40th anniversary celebration gala
added to member consultation and development sessions. The expenses are balanced by revenue from sales and
sponsorships for the event.
We continue to invest in activities and projects that fulfil MCoS Ends. There is a decrease in expenses for Multicultural
Events seen in Schedule 4: Programs and Services due to the creation of the We Are SK PSAs and the Multicultural
Forum in 2014-15, which was the 40th anniversary of the original Saskatchewan Multicultural Act. There is a balancing
decrease in the revenue from the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. With the modest increase in funding by the
Saskatchewan Ministry of Education, we were able to expand our Arrêt/Stop Racism youth leadership workshops to
the Southwest, while continuing Regina and Saskatoon. The Allocations Committee and the Multicultural Education
Initiatives Committee continue to support projects; MCoS continues to work with organizations that receive funding
to ensure that they effectively advance multicultural values and report in a way that demonstrates the contribution.
MCoS sponsors activities that support our mandate and offer significant promotional opportunities.
I would like to express our appreciation to SaskCulture, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, the Ministry
of Parks, Culture and Sport, the Ministry of Education and all of you who have supported our financial efforts and our
aim of promoting MCoS’ multicultural values through purchases of Multifaith Calendars, greeting cards, bows and lapel
pins, and through buying lottery tickets and encouraging others to do the same in order to support the cultural, sport
and recreation sectors.
Asit Sarkar, Treasurer

Annual Report 2015 - 2016

41

Audited Financial Statements
2015-16

42

Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan

Auditor’s Report
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc.
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc.,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2016 and the statements of
operations, changes in net assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc. as at March 31, 2016 and the results of its operations and its
cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.
(continues)
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of Operations
INC.
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COUNCIL
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Year
Ended of
March
31, 2016
Statement
Operations
INC.

Statement of Operations
Year Ended March 31, 2016
Statement of Operations

2016

2015

Year Ended March 31, 2016

2016

2015

GRANTS
Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust Fund
GRANTS
Government of Canada
Saskatchewan
Trust Fund
Government
of Lotteries
Saskatchewan
Government
of
Canada
GRANTS
Government
of Lotteries
Saskatchewan
Saskatchewan
Trust Fund

$
$
$

Government of Canada
SELF-GENERATED
Government of Saskatchewan
Sales
SELF-GENERATED
Donations, sponsorships and other fundraising
Sales
Workshop
service fees
Donations,
and other fundraising
Advertising sponsorships
revenue
SELF-GENERATED
Workshop
service fees
Memberships
Sales
Advertising
revenue
Interest
income
Donations, sponsorships
and other fundraising
Memberships
Workshop service fees
Interest
income
Advertising
revenue
Memberships
TOTAL REVENUES
Interest income
EXPENSES
TOTAL REVENUES
Administration (Schedule 1)
EXPENSES
Corporate
business (Schedule 2)
TOTAL
REVENUES
Administration
(Schedule
Meetings (Schedule
3) 1)
Corporate and
business
(Schedule
2) 4)
Programs
services
(Schedule
EXPENSES
Meetings
(Schedule
3)
Public
relations
and
communication
(Schedule 5)
Administration (Schedule 1)
Programs
and
services
(Schedule
4)
Corporate business (Schedule 2)
Public
relations
and communication
(Schedule 5)
Meetings
(Schedule
3)
Programs and services (Schedule 4)
EXCESS OF REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Public relations and communication (Schedule 5)

385,000
2016
25,000
385,000
15,000
25,000
425,000
15,000
385,000

$
$
$

25,000
425,000
15,000
10,427
9,953
425,000
10,427
7,642
9,953
6,259
7,642
3,050
10,427
6,259
3
9,953
3,050
7,642
37,334
3
6,259
3,050
462,334
37,334
3
462,334
37,334
247,750
8,200
462,334
247,750
30,122
8,200
129,589
30,122
28,531
247,750
129,589
8,200
444,192
28,531
30,122

365,000
2015
11,630
365,000
54,780
11,630
431,410
54,780
365,000

11,630
431,410
54,780
9,623
1,690
431,410
9,623
2,700
1,690
3,940
2,700
3,345
9,623
3,940
1,690
3,345
2,700
21,298
3,940
3,345
452,708
21,298
452,708
21,298
208,358
7,598
452,708
208,358
24,108
7,598
174,038
24,108
24,610
208,358
174,038
7,598
438,712
24,610
24,108

$

129,589
18,142
444,192
28,531

$

174,038
13,996
438,712
24,610

EXCESS OF REVENUES (EXPENSES)

$

18,142
444,192

$

13,996
438,712

EXCESS OF REVENUES (EXPENSES)

$

18,142

$

13,996

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year Ended
Marchin
31,
2016
Statement
of Changes
Net
Assets
Year Ended March 31, 2016
Statement ofGeneral
Changes in Net
Assets
Restricted
Fund

2016

Fund

Year Ended
March 31,Restricted
2016
General

Interfund transfer (Note 6)
NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR
Excess of revenues (expenses)

Fund
4,731
General
(10,000)
Fund
$
4,731
18,139
(10,000)
$
12,870
18,139
$
4,731
(10,000)
$
12,870
18,139

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR

$

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR
Interfund transfer (Note 6)
NETExcess
ASSETS
- BEGINNING
OF YEAR
of revenues
(expenses)
Interfund transfer (Note 6)
NET
ASSETS
-- END
OF(expenses)
YEAR
of revenues
NETExcess
ASSETS
BEGINNING
OF YEAR

See accompanying notes
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2016
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$

Fund
20,000
Restricted
10,000
Fund
$
20,000
3
10,000
$
30,003
3
$
20,000
10,000
$
30,003
3

$
$

$

42,873 $
18,142

2015
10,735
2015
10,735
13,996
24,731
13,996
10,735

30,003 $

42,873 $

24,731

$

12,870 $

2016
24,731
2016
24,731
18,142
42,873
18,142
24,731

2015
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$
$
$
$

$
$

24,731
13,996

545

INC.

2016

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Cash Flow
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess of revenues (expenses) Year Ended March 31, 2016
Item not affecting cash:
Amortization of capital assets

$

18,142

2015

$

5,125
2016
23,267

OPERATING
Changes inACTIVITIES
non-cash working capital:
Excess
of
revenues
(expenses)
Accounts receivable
Item
not affecting
cash:
Accounts
payable
Amortization
of capital assets
Deferred
revenue
Prepaid expenses
Goods and services tax payable
Wages payable
Changes
non-cash
working capital:
Currentinportion
of agreement
payable
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Prepaid
expenses
Cash
flow from
(used by) operating activities
Goods and services tax payable
INVESTING
WagesACTIVITY
payable
Purchase
of capital
assets payable
Current portion
of agreement

$

FINANCING ACTIVITY
Agreement payable
Cash flow from (used by) operating activities
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW
INVESTING ACTIVITY
CASH Purchase
- BEGINNING
OF YEAR
of capital
assets
CASH
- ENDACTIVITY
OF YEAR
FINANCING
Agreement payable
CASH CONSISTS OF:
Cash
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW
Restricted fund
CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR

$

CASH - END OF YEAR
CASH CONSISTS OF:
Cash
Restricted fund

18,142
(11,612)
(12,967)
5,125
(182,250)
5,241
23,267
96
(7,963)
5,125
(11,612)
(12,967)
(204,330)
(182,250)
5,241
(181,063)
96
(7,963)
(15,375)
5,125

13,996
2015
13,996

$

13,996
(3,747)
(20,445)
176,125
(5,532)
13,996
(399)
5,768
(3,747)
(20,445)
151,770
176,125
(5,532)
165,766
(399)
5,768
-

(204,330)
5,125
(181,063)
(191,313)

151,770
165,766
165,766

247,553
(15,375)

81,787
-

56,240
5,125

$

247,553
-

$ (191,313)
26,237
30,003
247,553
$
56,240
$
56,240

$
$
$

227,553
165,766
20,000
81,787
247,553
247,553

$

26,237
30,003

$

227,553
20,000

$

56,240

$

247,553

See accompanying notes
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MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2016

1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (the "Council") is a Registered Charity and is
incorporated under the Not-for-Profit Act of Saskatchewan and is exempt from income taxes under
section 149 of the Canadian Income Tax Act. The Council serves Saskatchewan through various
programs that raise awareness of the benefits of cultural diversity and the dangers of racism.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for notfor-profit organizations.
Revenue recognition
The Council follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions, which include grants,
donations and sponsorships. Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year the
related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received
or receivable if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Sales, registrations, advertising, other fundraising, memberships and interest income are recognized
when services are provided or the income is earned.
Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost at the time of acquisition and are amortized at the following
rates. A full year is taken in the year of acquisition.
Leasehold improvements

3 years

straight-line method

Financial instruments policy
Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods,
financial assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and
losses reported in income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested
for impairment at each reporting date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial
instruments are expensed when incurred.
Financial assets including cash and accounts receivable are reported at amortized cost.
Financial liabilities including accounts payable, accrued liabilities and agreement payable are
measured at amortized cost.
(continues)
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MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2016

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fund Accounting
The Council has the following funds at yearend:
The General fund reports the day-to-day operations of the Council.
The Restricted fund is internally restricted by the Board of Directors to provide for the future
sustainability of the Council in the event of a change in funding. These funds can only be used
upon approval by the Board of Directors.

3.

ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
The Council is economically dependent on the grant revenue from Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust
Fund. Should this funding substantially change, management is of the opinion that continuing viable
operations would be doubtful.

4.

CAPITAL ASSETS
Cost
Leasehold improvements

5.

$

2016
Net book
value

Accumulated
amortization

15,375

$

5,125

$

10,250

2015
Net book
value
$

-

AGREEMENT PAYABLE
As part of the new lease agreement the Council has agreed to pay for leasehold improvements
provided by the landlord over a three year period coinciding with the terms of the lease. As at
yearend there are two payments of $5,125 remaining.

6.

RESTRICTED FUND
The Council approved a transfer of $10,000 to the Restricted fund and established an annual
transfer of $10,000 from the current General Fund surplus.

7.

DEFERRED REVENUE
2016
Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust
subsequent year funding
Memberships

48

Fund

-

advance

on
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2015

$

250

$

182,500
-

$

250

$

182,500
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MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2016

8.

LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Council entered into an three year lease agreement with respect to office space, effective June
1, 2015. Under the lease, the Council is contractually obligated to meet the following minimum lease
payments:
2017
2018
2019

9.

$

22,887
23,886
4,000

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Council is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and management is
responsible to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides
information about the Council's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2016.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
Council is exposed to credit risk from members and customers. An allowance for doubtful accounts
is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific accounts, historical trends
and other information. The Council has a significant number of customers which minimizes
concentration of credit risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities. The Council is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds from
its funders and customers, obligations under leases, accounts payable and agreement payable.
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2016

2015

Schedules 1, 2, and 3

MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
$ 200,424
$ 181,755
42,201
26,603
INC.

Staff salaries and benefits
Office
Amortization

Administration
Year Ended March 31, 2016

5,125

$

Corporate Business

247,750
2016

Year Ended March 31, 2016

-

(Schedule 1)
$

(Schedule 2)
2015

Staff salaries and benefits
Office
Amortization

$

200,424
2016
42,201
5,125

$

Audit and accounting services
Insurance
Legal
Memberships

$
$

7,486
247,750
500
14
200

$
$

$

8,200

Corporate Business
Year Ended March 31, 2016

2016

Meetings
Audit and accounting services
Insurance
Legal
Memberships
Annual general meetings
Board & staff development
Board meetings
Membership meetings
Staff travel

Year Ended March 31, 2016

Annual general meetings
Board & staff development
Board meetings
Membership meetings
Staff travel

181,755
2015
26,603
-

6,988
208,358
400
10
(Schedule
2)
200
$

7,598

2015 3)
(Schedule

$

7,486
500
2016 14
200

$

$
$

14,788
8,200
4,166
8,523
442
2,203

$
$

$

30,122
2016

$

24,108
2015

$

14,788
4,166
8,523
442
2,203

$

4,420
4,268
10,573
1,883
2,964

$

30,122

$

24,108

Meetings
Year Ended March 31, 2016

208,358

6,988
400
2015 10
200

4,420
7,598
4,268
10,573
(Schedule
3)
1,883
2,964

See accompanying notes
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2016

2015

Schedules 4 and 5

MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
$
24,803
$
21,085
969
969
INC.

Education initiatives
Member development
Multicultural events
Programs and Services
Intercultural connections
SK multicultural week & March 21 activities
Year Ended March 31, 2016
Strategic initiatives
Partnership projects

$

4,139
8,500
50,875
34,606
5,697
2016
129,589

Education initiatives
$
Public Relations and Communication
Member development
Multicultural events
Year Ended March 31, 2016
Intercultural connections
SK multicultural week & March 21 activities
Strategic initiatives
Partnership projects

24,803
969
4,139
8,500
50,875
2016
34,606
5,697

$
$

6,996
129,589
9,785
11,750

$

28,531

Multifaith calendar
Promotion
Sponsorship

Public Relations and Communication
Year Ended March 31, 2016

39,643

(Schedule
4)
5,000

$

53,782
49,814
3,745
2015
174,038

$

21,085

(Schedule
5)
969
39,643
5,000
53,782
2015
49,814
3,745

$
$

(Schedule 5)
$

2016
Multifaith calendar
Promotion
Sponsorship

6,582
174,038
4,278
13,750
24,610

2015

$

6,996
9,785
11,750

$

6,582
4,278
13,750

$

28,531

$

24,610

See accompanying notes
MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP
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Only
laundry
should
be
separated
by
colour.
#MarchOutRacism

Racism: Recognize it... Reject it!
40

Multicultural
Council of
Saskatchewan

From Many Peoples Strength

March 21: International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination
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Multicultural Council
of Saskatchewan
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P: (306) 721-MCoS (6267)
F: (306) 721-3342
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